IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 24-234

SCA EFiled: Jul 08 2024
08:05PM EDT
Transaction ID 73573127

MICHAEL LANE PINKERMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

**Appeal from a final order of the
Circuit Court of Cabell County
(Case No. 20-F-226)**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

Date: July 8, 2024

Thomas H. Peyton, Esquire
West Virginia State Bar No. 8841
PEYTON LAW FIRM, PLLC
2801 First Avenue
P. O. Box 216
Nitro, WV 25143
Telephone: (304) 755-5556
Telefax: (304) 755-1255
Email: thpeyton@peytonlawfirm.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to suppress based upon a warrantless search of a pistol while at the Petitioner's home.
2. The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to suppress based on the provision of false information to the magistrate in the application for the search warrant.
3. The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for an evidentiary hearing regarding misrepresentations made to the grand jury by the State.
4. The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's two challenges for cause based upon close relationships between the prospective jurors and law enforcement officers intimately connected with the case.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged the Petitioner with a six-count indictment entered October 15, 2020. The indictment charges the Petitioner with two counts of “attempted first degree murder”, two counts of “malicious assault on a law enforcement officer,” one count of “wanton endangerment” and one count of “obstructing an officer.” The grand jury returned a true bill based on testimony presented to it on October 14, 2020, by the Cabell County Prosecuting Attorney as well as First Sergeant Trooper Gregory N. Losh and Cabell County Sheriff’s Deputy Nate Rogers. The events giving rise to the charges occurred on October 30, 2019. Appx. at 13 and Grand Jury Transcript.

On October 30, 2019, members of the Cabell County Sheriff’s Department Detective Unit arrived at a home owned by the Petitioner. The purpose of the officers’ visit to the Petitioner’s home was to speak with Michael Lane Pinkerman, II, the Petitioner’s 26-year-old son who lived at the residence (“noon visit”). Feb. 21, 2023 Hearing Transcript at 20. The officers travelled to the home for the dual purpose of an alleged welfare check on Mr. Pinkerman, II and to speak about a gun being fired into the Ona Volunteer Fire Department on October 28 or 29, 2019. This was a warrantless “knock and talk” type of visit. Upon the officers’ arrival and after knocking on various doors to the home, Mr. Pinkerman, II, exited the rear door of the home and was allegedly holding a pistol. *Id.* at 22. One of the officers directed Mr. Pinkerman, II to put the firearm to the side. Mr. Pinkerman, II complied with the directives by making the gun safe and placing it on a stack of wood. An officer then escorted Mr. Pinkerman, II to converse with him privately. Subsequently, another officer seized the firearm, moved the firearm to a different location, manipulated the firearm and took various photographs of the firearm in different positions for the

purpose of identifying the specific firearm for investigative purposes. The subject firearm was lawfully owned by the Petitioner.

The officers exited the Petitioner's home and curtilage. The officers then used the identifying information gathered from the firearm while it was being manipulated and photographed to conduct a rudimentary investigation. The investigation included contacting a government official with "dispatch" or "911" to run the firearm through National Crime Information Center (NCIC) using numbers on the firearm found and preserved by the officer's search of the firearm.¹ The "dispatch" operator informed the officer that the NCIC database indicated the firearm was stolen. However, this status was not verified by the investigating officers. The officers knew the subject firearm's location at the Petitioner's residence, but did not confirm it was a stolen firearm through NCIC or otherwise.

A law enforcement officer then executed an affidavit application seeking a search and seizure warrant. The purpose of the warrant was to search the Petitioner's home and to seize the following:

1. A Berretta, 9mm Pistol Identified by Serial Number 934648765490
2. Any Magazines, paperwork, receipts or any items related to the Beretta 9mm pistol listed above.

Appx. at 63.

The affidavit expressly states it was being submitted "for the limited purpose of obtaining a search warrant for a stolen gun at Mr. Pinkerman's residence[.]" In reliance upon the officer's

¹ "Criminal justice agencies enter records into NCIC. Those records are available to other law enforcement agencies nationwide. For example, an officer can search NCIC during a traffic stop. The system responds instantly and tells the officer if the vehicle is stolen or the driver is wanted. A positive response from NCIC is not probable cause for an officer to take action. Agencies must verify the information is accurate and up to date before taking action." See <https://le.fbi.gov/informational-tools/ncic>

affidavit, a magistrate signed a search warrant authorizing the search of the Petitioner's home for the purpose of seizing the items listed hereinabove. The search warrant was based on materially false information provided by the officers seeking the warrant.

The Cabell County Sheriff's Department uses the warrant as a means to return to the Pinkerman home to address the Petitioner's son. The Petitioner did not have a firearm in his possession and did not discharge a firearm during law enforcement's attempt to execute the search warrant. As law enforcement attempted to forcefully enter the Petitioner's home, the Petitioner's adult son walked from his bedroom into view of law enforcement officers who were positioned outside of the Petitioner's home. The Petitioner's son was wearing nothing more than his boxer style underpants. The State alleges the Petitioner's son brandished a pistol. The moment law enforcement saw the pistol in the son's hand, shooting occurred which resulted in the almost immediate death of the Petitioner's son. Further, two law enforcement officers sustained nonlethal gunshot wounds which were allegedly fired from the pistol held by the Petitioner's son. Petitioner was also grazed by a bullet as he attempted to open the door as shooting commenced. Prior to arriving at the door to Petitioner's home, law enforcement did not attempt to contact the Petitioner in any manner about the stolen firearm or otherwise. The law enforcement officers arrived heavily armed, with a battering ram, a sniper and "S.W.A.T." gear.

The grand jury presentation was more than 11 months after the search warrant was executed. Nevertheless, the State misrepresented to the grand jurors that the firearm was stolen. On multiple occasions during grand jury testimony the State misrepresents the pistol was stolen. West Virginia State Trooper Losh testified as follows:

[T]hey come to find out that it was reported **stolen**. It was in the national database, and it was **stolen** out of Gilbert, Arizona. So you wonder how guns get from one place to the other – **stolen** stuff. It's crazy. I don't know.

* * * * *

But that was the reason that they were going to go back to the house that night, the **stolen** gun that he was in possession of and the warrant that was probably going to be – you know, the warrant issued for him receiving or – you know, being in possession of that **stolen** gun.

* * * * *

That's the only reason they're there. They end up finding out the gun is **stolen**.

* * * * *

So they – so that was the noon meeting. They run – pistol **stolen**. We get the search warrant for the pistol and him and all that, going back at 6:00 that evening.

* * * * *

Prosecuting Attorney: So did they come back and discover that the weapon that he has was **stolen**?

Trooper Losh: Yes. They knew that shortly after leaving the house because they took a picture – I'm just – I'm giving – around about noon. They take a picture of that gun that they had him sit down that he come out with. And they run it. It comes back **stolen**.

Prosecuting Attorney: So as a result of that, when they go back a second time, they go in – was it pursuant to a search warrant?

* * * * *

A grand juror also questioned Sheriff's Deputy Nate Rogers about the warrant as follows:

Grand Juror: The warrant for – the warrant was issued for what to return at 6:00 p.m.?

Deputy Rogers: It was to go – so they find out – they go at noon. They find out that gun is **stolen**. Later, after they leave – they take a picture of it. He says, "Get out." They leave. They take that picture and they look at it, run the serial numbers. Well, it's **stolen**. So now they go back for a search warrant to get – to find that gun in the house.

Contrary to the above representations, the Petitioner and his son were not in violation of any law related to the subject firearm. The officers only reason for being at the Petitioner's home was the pistol, which was lawfully owned by the Petitioner for almost two decades.

The jury trial in this matter commenced with voir dire on January 23, 2024. During voir dire prospective jurors were asked whether they knew any of the listed witnesses. Prospective Juror Tucker raised her hand indicating she knows Brady Hinchman. The following exchange takes place:

Prosecuting Attorney: How do you know him?

Prospective Juror: I'm friends with his mom and he grew up with my son. They went to high school together. But we don't discuss cases or anything like that.

Prosecuting Attorney: Okay. Any reason why that would prevent from you being fair and impartial?

Prospective Juror: (Nonverbal response; negative nod.)

Prosecuting Attorney: Have to answer.

Prospective Juror: No.

* * * * *

Mr. Thomas Peyton: Ms. Tucker. Yes, ma'am. You were friends – did you say with one of the witness's mothers?

Prospective Juror: Yes.

Mr. Thomas Peyton: Which witness was that?

Prospective Juror: Brady Hinchman.

Mr. Thomas Peyton: Were you acquainted with any of the other witnesses that the judge read off?

Prospective Juror: (Non verbal response; negative nod.)

Mr. Thomas Peyton: How close friends are you with his mother?

Prospective Juror: (Inaudible.)

The Court Reporter: I can't – she's going to have to stand up or speak louder. I can't hear her.

Mr. Thomas Peyton: The court reporter is sitting down. She has to type everything we say.

Prospective Juror: Our sons went all through school together.

Mr. Thomas Peyton: So you have a son that's the same age as –

Prospective Juror: Yeah. As Brady.

* * * * *

Mr. Thomas Peyton: And were they friends growing up?

Prospective Juror: Yes. She would babysit or I would babysit, one or the other.

Mr. Thomas Peyton: Have you had any discussions with her about this case?

Prospective Juror: No.

The Petitioner timely moved to strike Prospective Juror Tucker for cause. The state did not object. The Court ruled as follows:

Trial Court: Okay. So we just have the one that you moved to strike for cause and then the State didn't necessarily object to. I still have an issue with striking her for cause because she – I think she qualified herself by saying that she could be fair and impartial. I don't think she rises to the level of giving anywhere near the type of answer that I would normally strike for cause where they say I would lean to believe him more. She said she wouldn't believe him more or believe him less. So I think she qualified herself. I certainly understand if the defense wants to keep her on the radar for a strike, but I don't think she's for cause at this point.

January 23, 2024 Trial Transcript at 43-47 and 57-58.

Prospective Juror Tucker babysat the State's witness, Brady Hinchman, as a child; her son of the same age attended school with Officer Hinchman; her son was friends with Officer

Hinchman during their childhood; and she is friends with Officer Hinchman's mother, who also babysat for Prospective Juror Tucker's son. Further, the State did not object to the motion to strike for cause. The Petitioner was forced to utilize one of his statutorily entitled preemptory strikes on Prospective Juror Tucker. The Petitioner was left with no choice but to use a strike on Prospective Juror Tucker because Officer Hinchman was a key witness for the State. In particular, the State called Brady Hinchman as a witness on the second day of trial. He was the third in line of officers attempting to enter the Petitioner's home under the authority of the search warrant.

Hinchman provides detailed testimony claiming the Petitioner was holding the door shut despite instructions to open the same. He also claims the door opened during the interaction and the Petitioner "slammed the door back." When the gunfire begins, Hinchman indicates he had "auditory exclusion. That's when you're in high-stress situation, you don't hear -- everything kind of goes into slow motion." January 24, 2024, Trial Transcript of Hinchman testimony at 11. Hinchman continues by describing for the jury an exchange of gunfire in which his fellow officers were shot. Hinchman testified as follows: "So I turn and I look at Nate and I said, Look, if I get shot in the face, please drag me out of this house; I don't want to die in here, but I'm going to go. He said, All right. I've got you." *Id.* at 17. This type of testimony was anticipated by defense counsel and, certainly, the prosecuting attorney. This is likely why the State did not object to the motion to strike Prospective Juror Tucker for cause. It is difficult to imagine Prospective Juror Tucker being unbiased when hearing this type of emotionally charged testimony from her son's friend, her friend's son and someone she has known most of his life.

The Petitioner also moved to strike Prospective Juror Freeman for cause. January 23, 2024 Trial Transcript at 15-16. Prospective Juror Freeman was friends with another officer on the scene, Detective Preston Stephens. Ms. Freeman attended public school as his

classmate from elementary school through high school. They also attended church together. They lived a couple houses from each other when they were growing up as children. *Id.* at 44. Prospective Juror Freeman has preconceived notions about the facts of the case from media reports and her nephew is a local law enforcement officer whom she thinks was called to the scene of the incident. *Id.* at 13. She also confirmed she has family members that live close to the scene of the shooting. *Id.* at 14. The challenge for cause was denied by the trial court.

The jury trial progressed over the trial week with the jury deliberating over two separate weekdays. Ultimately, the jury returned a verdict of guilty to count 6: obstructing an officer; not guilty to counts 3 through 5: wanton endangerment and malicious assault x 2; and the jury was deadlocked as to counts 1 and 2: attempted murder x 2. When the verdict was rendered, the trial court revoked Petitioner's bond and remanded him to custody. On March 11, 2024, the trial court denied post-trial motions and sentenced Mr. Pinkerman to the maximum term of incarceration: 12 months. Additionally, the State moved to dismiss the two attempted murder charges with prejudice. The Petitioner did not object and the trial court granted said motion. Appx. at 92. Therefore, this appeal seeks reversal of Petitioner's conviction of obstructing an officer.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to suppress based upon a warrantless search of a pistol while at the Petitioner's home. The officers manipulated the firearm after it was rendered safe by the occupant of the home. As a result of manipulating and taking photographs of the pistol, the officers contacted dispatch to convey identifiers from the pistol. The information conveyed to dispatch resulted in the application for and issuance of a search warrant that led to the shooting at Petitioner's home.

The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to suppress based on the provision of false information to the magistrate in the application for the search warrant. In particular, the officers involved operated with a reckless disregard for the truth when they informed the magistrate the pistol was a stolen firearm, when, in fact, it was lawfully owned and possessed by the Petitioner and his son.

The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying his request for an evidentiary hearing regarding misrepresentations made to the grand jury by the State when the prosecuting attorney and the grand jury witnesses tell the jurors the pistol was stolen when they knew the pistol was rightfully owned by the Petitioner and lawfully possessed by his son.

The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's two challenges for cause based upon close relationships between the prospective jurors and law enforcement officers intimately connected with the case. The proper remedy for an appellant or criminal defendant at trial should be revisited by the Court.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner asserts that oral argument is necessary because the case involves a multitude of facts that may be more thoroughly addressed at oral argument. Further, Petitioner is requesting clarification of existing precedent as applied to the facts of this case in relation to denied challenges for cause of prospective jurors.

V. ARGUMENT

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to suppress based upon the warrantless search of a pistol while at the Petitioner's home.**

The trial court erred in upholding the search warrant used by law enforcement as justification for raiding the Petitioner's home with a S.W.A.T. style tactical team. The issue involves the government's search and seizure of a pistol at the Petitioner's residence without a warrant or exigent circumstances. The information gleaned from that search and seizure was used to obtain the subject search warrant. The handling, manipulating and photographing of Petitioner's pistol while visiting his home constitutes an unlawful search and seizure.

The object of the search warrant was a stolen firearm which was in the possession of the Petitioner's adult son at the Petitioner's home earlier the same day as the shooting. Neither the Petitioner or his spouse were home during the noon visit by law enforcement when the search of Petitioner's pistol occurred. Further, neither Petitioner or his spouse had any knowledge law enforcement had any interaction with their son or his activities in the 2-3 days leading to the time he was killed in the shooting. On the day of the shooting, Petitioner and his wife were at a monastery in Wayne, West Virginia, where they volunteer their time. By all accounts, the Petitioner was in the restroom while his wife finished making dinner when the Cabell County Sheriff's deputies begin a raid of the home that evening with a battering ram, positioned sniper, multiple firearms directed at both Petitioner and his wife and wearing tactical S.W.A.T. gear. This was far different from the "knock and talk" method used by law enforcement earlier the same day when Petitioner's son made the pistol safe and placed it to the side as directed by law enforcement.² The Petitioner had no idea this was coming because he was living lawfully inside his home. The

² If the object was to acquire a stolen firearm, it is unclear why law enforcement did not attempt some further communication with the Petitioner as owner and occupant of the home. Even a rudimentary review of readily available public records would disclose the Petitioner owned the home and vehicles despite the presence of his 26-year-old son during the noon visit. If they desired possession of the firearm, the tactics used during the noon visit were successful and there is no explanation for why that tactic was not utilized in some form prior to raiding a home with an innocent family and their pets inside.

Petitioner did not have a firearm in his possession and did not discharge a firearm during law enforcement's attempt to execute the search warrant.

Prior to arriving at the door to Petitioner's home, law enforcement did not attempt to contact the Petitioner in any manner about the "stolen" firearm or otherwise. As the United States Supreme Court of Appeals noted, one of the interests in notifying the homeowner of the search warrant in anticipation of voluntary compliance "is the protection of human life and limb, because an unannounced entry may provoke violence in supposed self-defense by the surprised resident. *See, e.g., McDonald v. United States*, 335 U.S. 451, 460-461, 69 S. Ct. 191, 93 L. Ed. 153 (1948) (Jackson, J., concurring). *See also Sabbath*, 391 U.S., at 589, 88 S. Ct. 1755, 20 L. Ed. 2d 828; *Miller*, 357 U.S., at 313, n. 12, 78 S. Ct. 1190, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1332." *Hudson v. Michigan*, 547 U.S. 586, 126 S. Ct. 2159, 165 L.Ed.2d 56 (2006).

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