IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 24-234

**SCA EFiled: Aug 20 2024
02:52PM EDT
Transaction ID 74102011**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL LANE PINKERMAN,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Appeal from the March 8, 2024, Order
Circuit Court of Cabell County
Case No. 20-F-226**

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Holly M. Mestemacher (WV Bar # 7996)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: hmestemacher@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833
*Counsel for Respondent***

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Law enforcement did not conduct an illegal search or seizure warranting the suppression of photographs. Because Michael Pinkerman, Jr. exited the home with a loaded pistol in hand and approached law enforcement in a tactical stance, Lt. Vincent was permitted to handle the pistol to ensure it was disassembled for officer safety. As to Cpl. Cremeans photographing the pistol where it lay after Lt. Vincent set it down following the safety check, that, too, was within the bounds of the law. Recording visible numbers is neither a search nor a seizure under *Arizona v. Hicks*. Moreover, because the serial numbers/identifying information were located on both sides of the pistol, assuming *arguendo* that photographs of the nonvisible side of the pistol should have been suppressed, the error is harmless.

2. The search warrant was not obtained with false or misleading evidence or evidence that showed a reckless disregard for the truth. Officer Stephens followed protocol by having 911 dispatch submit the pistol's identifying information to NCIC; confirmed the make, the caliber, and the identifying numbers on the pistol multiple times; and the dispatch operator repeatedly assured Officer Stephens that the gun was a "match" for the stolen pistol. The circuit court heard the evidence, assessed witness credibility, and found law enforcement acted in good faith in relying on the NCIC hit and there was no evidence of a reckless disregard for the truth.

3. Regardless of whether the motion to suppress was granted or denied, there is no probability whatsoever that either the photographs of the pistol or the validity of the search warrant led to Petitioner's conviction of obstruction. The result of a successful motion to suppress is to suppress

evidence; it would not negate the fact that law enforcement arrived on Petitioner's doorstep to execute a search warrant, and it certainly would not negate the fact that Petitioner blocked their ability to do so. Hence, even if the evidence was suppressed and this case was retried, it would assuredly yield the same result.

4. The State did not obtain the indictment by fraud.⁴ The circuit court correctly found that the testimony regarding the pistol being stolen explained the information law enforcement possessed and the series of events that led to the criminal charges against Petitioner. Had the officers informed the grand jury they later learned Petitioner owned the pistol, the charges against Petitioner for attempted murder, malicious wounding, wanton endangerment, and obstruction would have remained unaffected. Each of the offenses of which Petitioner was charged stands independent of whether the pistol was stolen.

5. The circuit court correctly denied Petitioner's motion to strike two potential jurors for cause after conducting appropriate individual voir dire. Both jurors unequivocally stated they could be fair and impartial, and Petitioner neither alleges nor argues that a biased juror served on the panel.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

⁴ Respondent's fourth argument corresponds with Petitioner's third assignment of error. Respondent's fifth argument corresponds with Petitioner's fourth assignment of error.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first two assignments of error challenge the circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress. When reviewing a ruling on a motion to suppress, all facts are construed in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below. Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Lacy*, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996). "Because of the highly fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the circuit court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on the issues. Therefore, the circuit court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error." *Id.* In contrast to a review of the circuit court's factual findings, the ultimate determination as to whether a search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and Article III Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Id.*, syl. pt. 2. This Court, therefore, will affirm a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence "unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence, based on an erroneous interpretation of the law, or based on the entire record, it is clear that a mistake has been made." *Id.*

Petitioner's third assignment of error challenges the circuit court's denial of his motion to dismiss the indictment. A motion to dismiss an indictment is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Spinks*, 239 W. Va. 588, 602, 803 S.E.2d 558, 572 (2017). The well-settled rule in West Virginia is that "[e]xcept for willful, intentional fraud the law of this State does not permit the court to go behind an indictment to inquire into the evidence considered by the grand jury, either to determine its legality or its sufficiency." Syl. pt. 2, *Pinson*, 181 W. Va. 662, 383 S.E.2d 844.

Petitioner's fourth assignment of error challenges the circuit court's denial of his motion to strike two potential jurors for cause. A trial court has broad discretion in determining whether to strike jurors for cause, and this Court will reverse only where actual prejudice is demonstrated.

State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 605, 476 S.E.2d 535, 552 (1996). In reviewing the qualifications of a jury to serve in a criminal case,

review is plenary as to legal questions such as the statutory qualifications for jurors; clearly erroneous as to whether the facts support the grounds relied upon for disqualification; and an abuse of discretion as to the reasonableness of the procedure employed and the ruling on disqualification by the trial court.

Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Benny W.*, 242 W Va. 618, 837 S.E.2d 679 (2019).

ARGUMENT

I. A photograph of a pistol in plain view is not a search; thus, the circuit court correctly denied the motion to suppress. Even assuming *arguendo* that error existed, any such error was harmless.

Boiling the search and seizure issue down to its essence,⁵ Petitioner contends law enforcement conducted an unlawful search of his pistol by picking it up and photographing it without consent. Pet'r's Br. 12, 13. Thus, argues Petitioner, under the exclusionary rule, all evidence obtained as a result of the unlawful search should have been suppressed.⁶ Pet'r's Br. 13-14. There is no error here.

First, Petitioner fails to meet the basic threshold for appellate review of this assignment of error.⁷ In *State v. Green*, No. 22-895 (W. Va. Supreme Court, July 21, 2024) (memorandum decision), this Court again reiterated that a Petitioner's failure to comply with Rule 10 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is fatal deficiency. Rule 10(c)(7) requires the argument

⁵ Petitioner identifies the first assignment of error as a challenge to law enforcement's warrantless search of his pistol. Pet'r's Br. 10. The first portion of his argument, however, relates to the search warrant. Pet'r's Br. 10-12. Because Petitioner's second assignment of error addresses the search warrant, Respondent will address the search and seizure issue here and reserve its discussion of the search warrant for the second assignment of error.

⁶ The only evidence that would have been seized under this search warrant is Petitioner's 9mm Beretta pistol, its magazines, paperwork, receipts and accoutrements. App. Vol. 3, 66.

⁷ This Rule 10 argument applies to each of Petitioner's four assignments of error.

section of a Petitioner's Brief contain "an argument clearly exhibiting the points of fact and law presented . . . the argument must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal." Petitioner did not do this. Not in his statement of the case, Pet'r's Br. 2-4, and not in his argument, Pet'r's Br. 10-14. As a result, not only does Ground 1 violate Rule 10, but the lack of citations also hinders meaningful review of the circuit court's findings of fact, application of law, and legal conclusions. Consistent with this Court's typical procedure to "not address issues that have not been properly briefed[.]" *State v. White*, 228 W. Va. 530, 541 n.9, 722 S.E.2d 566, 577 n.9 (2011), this Court should not address this Ground. Should it nonetheless consider its merits, this assignment of error fails.

Just as the circuit court concluded, Lt. Vincent's handling and manipulating the weapon to ensure it was disassembled was "certainly for officer safety," and, therefore, justified. App. Vol. 4, 75. The Fourth Amendment applies only to unreasonable searches and seizures. *Lacy*, 196 W. Va. at 112, 468 S.E.2d at 727. Indeed, the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment's promise is "reasonableness," which generally, though not always, translates into a warrant requirement. *Id.* "The circumstances that justify warrantless searches include those in which officers reasonably fear for their safety, [and] where firearms are present." *Id.* at 113, 468 S.E.2d at 728. "[O]fficers should be permitted to search for a suspected weapon and secure it if the officers have a reasonable belief that failure to secure the weapon will endanger themselves or private citizens." *State v. Ward*, 249 W. Va. 347, ___ n.19, 895 S.E.2d 202, 212 n.19 (2023) (citing *Lacy*, 196 W. Va. at 114 n.14, 468 S.E.2d at 729 n.14).

In the present case, law enforcement did not need to search for a weapon; Michael "greeted" them with a loaded gun. App. 74. Given his needless aggression, the officers had every

reason to believe that failing to secure then weapon endangered those present. Luckily, Michael cleared the pistol and set it down on a stack of wood, at law enforcement's request. Feb. 21, 2023, Motions Hearing, 35-36. One officer then walked Michael a short distance away from the pistol so it was not within easy reach while they spoke, and Lt. Vincent "walked over and picked the gun up, ensured its safety, put it back down." *Id.* at 36. Under the circumstances, it was entirely reasonable for Lt. Vincent to confirm the weapon was disarmed. The circuit court heard law enforcement's testimony and rejected Petitioner's arguments that it was unreasonable for Officer Vincent to double check the safety of the gun simply because he observed Michael removed the clip and appear to make the pistol safe. App. Vol. 4, 74- 75. The circuit court did not err in so ruling, and it should be affirmed.

As to Cpl. Cremeans' actions once Lt. Vincent laid the pistol back down, the crux of the issue turns on whether Cpl. Cremeans conducted a search or a seizure by photographing the pistol. Photographing the pistol in place where Lt. Vincent set it down was not an unlawful search or seizure. In *Arizona v. Hicks*, the United States Supreme Court addressed a similar issue. 480 U.S. 321 (1987). In that case, law enforcement lawfully entered Hicks' apartment to search for a shooter, additional victims, and weapons. *Id.* at 323. One officer noticed stereo equipment he believed was stolen. *Id.* He moved some of the components to find and record the serial numbers, then called and reported them to his headquarters. *Id.* On being advised that one of the components had been taken in an armed robbery, the officer seized it immediately. *Id.* The lower court granted the motion to suppress the seized evidence. *Id.* at 324.

The question of whether the officer's actions constituted an illegal search and seizure moved through the appellate courts. The Supreme Court's ruling on the matter established three particular principles that apply to the present case. First, law enforcement's inspection of the stereo

components that were already in view did not constitute a search. *Hicks*, 480 U.S. at 324-25. Second, “the mere recording of the [visible] serial numbers d[id] not constitute a seizure.” *Id.* And, third, “[i]f the computer had identified as stolen property a component with a visible serial number, the evidence would have been admissible.” *Id.* at 332 (Powell, J., dissenting).

Here, the record reflects that law enforcement went to Petitioner’s home to speak with Petitioner’s son about the shooting at the Ona Volunteer Fire Department, which involved a 9mm gun. App. Vol. 3, 69. The record establishes that after Lt. Vincent’s safety check, Cpl. Cremeans photographed the 9mm gun where it lay, capturing its identifying numbers. Feb. 21, 2023, Motions Hearing, 66-67. *Hicks* indisputably establishes that the serial numbers/identifying information, which were visible on the pistol and recorded via photograph before Cpl. Cremeans flipped the pistol over, was not a search. Nor was recording the visible serial numbers/identifying numbers a seizure. *Hicks*, 480 U.S. at 324. Also pursuant to *Hicks*, because NCIC identified as stolen property a 9mm Beretta with a visible serial number, that evidence is admissible. *Hicks*, 480 U.S. at 332 (Powell, J., dissenting). That evidence, therefore, was properly used to obtain a search warrant.

Even if this Court disagrees with the circuit court and finds that that Cpl. Cremeans engaged in a “search” per *Hicks*, this error would be harmless. Suppressing the photograph of the nonvisible side of the gun would not yield a different outcome at trial. “Errors involving deprivation of constitutional rights will be regarded as harmless only if there is no reasonable possibility that the violation contributed to the conviction.” *State v. Jenkins*, 195 W. Va. 620, 629, 466 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1995) (quoting syl. pt. 20, *State v. Thomas*, 157 W. Va. 640, 203 S. E.2d 445 (1974)). The serial numbers/identifying information that law enforcement ran through NCIC *were located on both sides of the pistol*. Feb. 21, 2023, Motions Hearing, 65. Hence, unlike *Hicks*, where the

officer moved components to read the identifying number, the firearm's serial numbers were in plain view regardless of whether Cpl. Cremeans moved the pistol. *Id.* at 65-66. Consequently, even if the circuit court had suppressed the photographs of the nonvisible side of the pistol, the initial photograph and the serial numbers/identifying information thereon remained admissible. Any error in the circuit court's ruling on the motion to suppress, therefore, was harmless.

II. The circuit court did not err in denying Petitioner's motion to suppress because the affidavit submitted in support of the search warrant application did not contain information that was false or misleading or that showed a reckless disregard for the truth.

Petitioner argues that because the 9mm Beretta pistol law enforcement used as the basis for a search warrant was not stolen—a fact law enforcement learned days later—the search warrant authorizing seizure of the pistol was based on false information. Pet'r's Br. 15. He further argues that even though the officers provided 911 dispatch the identifying numbers they believed to be the serial numbers, the officers' failure to take additional steps to verify the accuracy of the NCIC information constituted a reckless disregard for the truth.⁸ Pet'r's Br. 15- 16. Petitioner thus claims that Officer Cremeans obtained a search warrant with information he knew was false or would have known was false if not for a reckless disregard of the truth. Pet'r's Br. 15.⁹ The circuit court heard this same argument, Feb. 21, 2023, Motions Hearing, 154-59, found that law enforcement acted in good faith when they obtained the information from 911, did not knowingly use false information to obtain the search warrant, and thus failed to satisfy the requisite burden of

⁸ Petitioner hypothesizes that instead of taking additional steps to verify the accuracy of the NCIC information, the officers were “celebrating” the gun being stolen because of ill will toward Michael. Pet'r's Br. 15. Not only does the record fail to support such an inference, but Officer Stephens also expressly testified there was no celebration about the gun being stolen. Feb. 21, 2023, Motions Hearing, 122-23.

⁹ Petitioner again fails to pinpoint when and how he presented this issue to the lower court in violation of Rule 10, evidence at trial. *See* Pet'r's Br. 15-18.

proof to suppress the search warrant. *Id.* at 160-62. There is no error in the circuit court’s findings and conclusions.

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